FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/1/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

100333-1

No. 80780-3-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ADDIE SMITH,

Petitioner,

 \mathbf{V}_{\star}

SYHADLEY, LLC.,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Addie Smith, Pro Se

2601 76th Ave SE Mercer Island, WA 98040 absmith27@icloud.com

December 1, 2021

I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to the establishment of clear precedent which has been enacted by the Washington State Legislature, including the House and Senate, and Governor Inslee, due to the Covid-19 Pandemic to help preserve and maintain life, health, property or the public peace, the application and implementation of claims and defenses in this petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Racism has been declared a public health crisis, much like the Covid-19 pandemic in this State. Racism nor the Covid-19 Pandemic are releasing its hold on this Nation or Washington State. Ms. Smith and her daughter are, without question, hate crime survivors. Ms. Smith and her daughter were continuously attacked, threatened, harassed and stalked by residents living in the Respondent's apartment building. Ms. Smith was hired to manage that apartment building for the Respondents. The Respondents refused to keep their employee, the Petitioner, safe. They were her first line of defense, protection and support. The Respondents didn't. The police didn't. The courts didn't. This is America for people who look like the Petitioner. Prior to the November 26, 2019, arrest for provoking and assault, Ms. Smith had absolutely never been arrested for provoking and assault. She has never provoked and assaulted anyone. The Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of the trial court. This contradicts current controlling newly established precedent that this state's laws govern.

II. IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

Addie Smith, the Petitioner, hereinafter, "Ms. Smith", seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals identified in Part III below.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I of the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished decision in Cause No. 80780-3-I on September 27, 2021, and a motion to publish has not been ruled upon yet. Ms. Smith filed a Motion to Publish and is waiting for a decision from the court of appeals.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling in both unlawful detainer actions.

Whether Washington State's new laws governing "Tenancy Preservation – A Bridge to E2SSB 5160" applies to Ms. Smith? This petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Whether the Respondents breached the covenant of quiet enjoyment.

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Smith was hired by the Respondents on May 6, 2019. Beginning in June, 2019, Ms. Smith and her teenaged daughter were hate crime survivors. The leader of the racist group of attackers, in the building, even attempted to run Ms. Smith over with their car. Ms. Smith was terminated by the Respondents after reporting hate crime attack. Ms. Smith requested arbitration, pursuant to the arbitration agreement, on September 16, 2019. On September 18, 2019, the Respondents filed an eviction notice in retaliation. The trial court granted an eviction on November 19, 2019. Ms. Smith filed an appeal on November 20, 2019. Less than one week after filing the appeal, on November 26, 2019, Ms. Smith was attacked by one of the racists in the building. That resident had a weapon. That resident is a convicted felon.

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should grant review for three reasons. First, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with decisions of this Court and published decisions of the Court of Appeals. Second, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the United States Supremacy Clause and principles of arbitration. Third, the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Respondents', SyHadley, LLC., are Ms. Smith's former employers. The Court of Appeals is now saying the Respondents aren't Ms. Smith's former employers.

A. There is no dispute that state and federal law allows estoppel to be asserted in response to a defense that precludes a party, or a court, from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position.

The Respondents' brief was submitted to the Court of Appeals on April 8, 2021. They state in the first sentence of the Introduction section states, "Petitioner, Addie Smith ("Petitioner"), is a former rental manager, who earned \$90,000.00 per year, for Respondent." While she was employed, she received a credit towards her rent due under a rental agreement." On Page 3, paragraph 3.1, SyHadley writes, "Petitioner had an 'at will' employment agreement with Respondent [SyHadley, LLC]." During her employment, she was paid a salary of \$90,000 per year for the managing the apartment complex."

SyHadley also represented that Christina Jones signed the lease agreement on behalf of SyHadley, LLC., and that pursuant to that agreement, Addie Smith "enjoyed a credit towards her rental while employed with Respondent." On page 5, paragraph 3.5 the Respondents state, "On November 18, 2019, Respondent moved for 'an order to amend the caption to change the name of the Plaintiff to SyHadley, LLC..." On page 6, paragraph 3.6 the Respondents state, "On November 19, 2021, the Court heard the motion to Amend the caption and granted it. A manager

for Respondent testified as to the termination of Petitioner's 'at-will' employment, her back rent owed, and the service of the 14 Day Notice to Pay or Vacate."

Not only are the actions of the Court of Appeals showing clear bias, but judicial estoppel which is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the supreme court. Courts apply the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel to protect the integrity of the judicial process by precluding a party from gaining an advantage by asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position. *Urbick v. Spencer Law Firm, LLC*, 192 Wn.App. 483, 367 P.3d 1103 (Div. 1 2016) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). The trial court heard argument from the Respondents.

The trial court allowed the Respondents, Ms. Smith's former employers, to amend the caption. Under the Standard of Review, "Where the trial court has weighed the evidence, [an appellate court's] review is limited to determining whether substantial evidence supports the findings of fact and, if so, whether those findings of fact support the trial court's conclusions of law. *Green v. Cmty. Club*, 137 Wn. App. 655, 689, 151 P.3d 1038, 1050 (2007); *Merklinghaus v. Bracken*, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2618, *2, 2018 WL 6046910 (unpublished opinion) If that standard is satisfied, [appellate courts] will not substitute [their] judgment for that of the trial court even though [they] might have resolved disputed facts differently." *Green*, 137 Wn. App. at 689; Bracken, 2018 Wash. App. LEXIS 2618, *2, 2018 WL 6046910.

[CP Vol 1 – Pg 37]

On page 21, SyHadley, LLC., argues, "Rent was due/comped as a benefit while she was employed with Respondent [SyHadley, LLC] On page 22 it states, "In sum, Respondent elected to terminate Petitioner's 'at-will' employment, and then later elected to terminate the tenancy

because Petitioner failed to pay rent". This is clearly proof that the Respondents are Ms. Smith's former employers and her employment was based on tenancy. On page 26, SyHadley, LLC., represented that Christina Jones, "a colleague of Petitioner [Ms. Smith] while she worked for Respondent – signed both the rental agreement and fourteen-day notice. On page 27, SyHadley LLC argued that amending the caption to change the identity of the party in interest "had no impact on Petitioner's substantive argument", where she clearly attempted to put her employment agreement at issue. These statements implicate principles of judicial estoppel.

OCCUPANCY AS A CONDITION OF EMPLOYMENT

In the decision from the Court of Appeals, it stated that Ms. Smith did not raise occupancy as a condition of employment is the second unlawful detainer. This is false. The decision from the Court of Appeals further stated that because Ms. Smith did not raise occupancy as a condition of employment that she waived it as to the order of eviction in that case. The decision of the Court of Appeals is hopelessly flawed, strained and faulty. *State v. Barnett*, 139 Wn. 2d 462, 465, 987 P.2d 626, 628 (1999); *Agrilink Foods, Inc. v. State, Dep't of Revenue*, 153 Wn. 2d 392, 397, 103 P.3d 1226,1229 (2005); *State v. Steinbach*, 101 Wn.2d 460, 462, 679 P.2d 369, 370 (1984). Ms. Smith filed her Response for Order to Show Cause; And, Motion to Dismiss with the trial court in the second Unlawful Detainer Action on January 24, 2020. She did raise her occupancy as a condition of employment. In both cases (19-2-28674-1 SEA and 20-2-01335-8 SEA) and in both the Response to Legal Document; and, Sworn statements; and, Responses to Order to Show Cause dated October 25, 2019; and, November 18, 2019; and, January 16, 2020; and, January 24, 2020 informed the trial court that Ms. Smith and the Respondents signed an arbitration agreement; and, that her apartment was part of her salary; and, offer of employment.

[CP Volume 2 – Pg 481-482; and, CP Volume 3 – Pg 523-526]

B. The United States Constitution's Supremacy Clause requires that precedent governs the application of the arbitration agreement.

In the decision from the Court of Appeals, it stated, "The trial court did not err in concluding that the arbitration clause did not apply to her relationship with her landlord. The employment agreement Smith signed with Legacy Partners provides that 'Legacy Partners and I will utilize binding arbitration to resolve all disputes that may arise out of the employment context.' SyHadley sought to evict Smith because she refused to pay rent and she then assaulted another tenant in the building. It was the landlord, SyHadley, who sought to evict her from the building, not her employer, Legacy Partners. Thus the arbitration clause in her employment agreement did not apply." On page 21, of the brief filed April 8, 2021, by the Respondent's Attorney, Drew Mazzeo, filed with the Court of Appeals, Respondent's stated, "Rent was due/comped as a benefit while she was employed with Respondent [SyHadley, LLC] On page 22 it states, "In sum, Respondent elected to terminate Petitioner's 'at-will' employment, and then later elected to terminate the tenancy because Petitioner failed to pay rent". [EXHIBIT 1] This is clearly proof that the Respondents are Ms. Smith's former employers and her employment was based on tenancy.

1. The Supremacy Clause mandates that its law be applied to claims of arbitration and defenses.

"Under the <u>Supremacy Clause</u>, from which our preemption doctrine is derived, any state law, however clearly within a State's acknowledged power, which interferes with or is contrary to federal law, must yield". <u>Dean Witter Reynolds Inc. v. Byrd</u>, 470 U.S. 213, 219-220 (1985)

2. Court of Appeals decisions in this case conflicts with published decisions in the Court of Appeals.

Ms. Smith has requested arbitration in both the first and second unlawful detainer action.

Ms. Smith has filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration in the trial court on November 20, 2019. Ms. Smith has filed a Motion to Compel Arbitration in the Court of Appeals on December 19, 2019. Despite all these attempts, which are just and in compliance with the laws of the state of Washington including the trial court, court of appeals and superior court, there is still no order compelling arbitration. When the contract concerns an arbitration agreement, we "determine the arbitrability of the dispute by examining the arbitration agreement between the parties," and we review "questions of arbitrability de novo". Davis v. Gen Dynamics Land Sys., 152 Wn. App. 715, 718, 217, P.3d 1191 (2009). The burden of showing that an arbitration agreement is unenforceable is on the party opposing arbitration. Townsend v. Quadrant Corp., 173 Wn.2d 451, 455, 268, P.3d 917 (2012). The Respondents have not done that. Pursuant to RCW 7.04A.060 governs the enforceability of arbitration agreements. Under RCW 7.04A.060(1), "[a]n agreement contained in a record to submit to arbitration any existing or subsequent controversy arising between the parties to the agreement is valid, enforceable, and irrevocable except upon a ground that exists at law or in equity for the revocation of contract". "Washington strongly favors arbitration", Davis, 152 Wn. App, at 718. There is a presumption that, "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration." Kamaya Co., Ltd v. Am. Prop. Consultants, Ltd., 91 Wn. App. 703, 714, 959 P.2d 1140 (1998)

The Court of Appeals ruled that the "arbitration clause" in her employment agreement did not apply. The Arbitration Agreement specifically states, "any claim, dispute, and/or controversy that either I may have... (or its owners, directors, officers, managers, employees, agents, and parties affiliated with its employee benefit health plan)". The Respondents have identified themselves as Ms. Smith's former employers. They've even corrected the record by amending the caption in their unlawful detainer.

The Court of Appeals has taken the position, for the Respondents, that the Respondents aren't Ms. Smith's former employers. Which clearly conflicts with its own decisions in the Court of Appeals, as well as the ruling from the trial court. The doctrine of judicial estoppel, in its most generic form, prevents a party from asserting a position in one legal proceeding that directly contradicts a position taken by that same party in an earlier proceeding. "Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." *Bartley-Williams v.**

Kendall*, 134 Wash. App. 95, 98, 138 P.3d 1103 (2006). The doctrine seeks "'to preserve respect for judicial proceedings," and "'to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, and . . . waste of time."

Cunningham v. Reliable Concrete Pumping, Inc., 126 Wash. App. 222, 225, 108 P.3d 147 (2005) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting Johnson v. Si-Cor, Inc., 107 Wash. App. 902, 906, 28 P.3d 832 (2001)). We review a trial court's decision to apply the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel for abuse of discretion. *Bartley-Williams*, 134 Wash. App. at 98, 138 P.3d 1103.

BREACH OF QUIET ENJOYMENT AND RIGHT TO TRIAL

The decision from the Court of Appeals stated, "Smith next contends the trial court erred in refusing to grant her request for a jury trial. During the first unlawful detainer proceeding, Smith asked for a jury trial. The trial court did not err in rejecting that request because a jury trial at the initial stage of an unlawful detainer action is not available in such summary proceedings." Then the Court of Appeals finds error in that Ms. Smith didn't ask for a jury trial in the second unlawful detainer proceeding, and thus, "failed to preserve it as to the second order." RCW 59.18.380 "Whether or not the court issues a writ of restitution at show cause hearing, if material factual issues exist, the court is required to enter an order directing the

parties to proceed to trial on the complaint and answer. Id.; <u>Pleasant</u>, 126 Wn. App. At 393 "expressly and repeatedly states that a tenant who has answered the eviction summons may stay a writ "pending final judgment" – that a trial on the merits will be held." <u>The Law Between Landlord and Tenant in Washington</u>: Part II, 49 WASH. L. REV. 1013, 1074 (1974), and in practice, many counterclaims and set-offs were allowed in unlawful detainer proceedings, provided that they are related to the issues of possession."

Ms. Smith and her daughter have a right to the peaceful enjoyment of their home. It has been breached in a variety of ways by the Respondents. Income Properties Inv. Corp. v. Trefethen, 155 Wash. 493, 508-9, 284 P. 782 (1930)(breach of right to peaceful enjoyment can be brought in unlawful detainer case). The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the ruling of the trial court because there are material issues of fact warranting a trial. By affirming the ruling of the trial court the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with decisions of the Court of Appeals. The statute allows the landlord such "other relief" at the show cause hearing only "if it shall appear to the court that there is no substantial issue of material fact affecting the landlord's right to that relief." If issues of material fact exist, the matter must proceed to trial in the "usual manner." A tenant's testimony specifically disputing the breach of the lease alleged by the landlord creates issues of material fact warranting trial. Hartson P'ship v. Goodwin, 99 Wn. App. 227, 231, 991 P.2d 1211 (2000) (quoting RCW 59.18.380) (emphasis added) (internal quotation marks omitted). Meadow Park Garden Assocs., 54 Wn. App. at 374; Hous. Auth. of City of Pasco & Franklin County, 126 Wn. App. at 391. Hous. Auth. of City of Pasco & Franklin County, 126 Wn. App. at 393; see also Meadow Park Garden Assocs., 54 Wn. App. at 372 (holding that "one is entitled to a jury trial on contested issues in an unlawful detainer action including the ultimate issue of possession"). The Trial Court Erred in refusing to grant Ms.

Smith's Counterclaim. The Court of Appeals decision affirming the trial court ruling is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals. An exception is made for counterclaims involving facts which excuse a tenant's breach. If she had properly exercised the option, she would have been entitled to continued possession. Thus, the trial court had to reach the merits of the counterclaim to decide the issue of possession. An exception is made for counterclaims involving facts which excuse a tenant's breach. *Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985)

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's ruling which is in conflict with the Court of Appeals published decision of the Court of Appeals. In the Court of Appeals decision it states, "she did not allege a breach of the covenant of quiet enjoyment". "An exception to the general rule is made when the counterclaim, affirmative equitable defense, or set of is 'based on facts which excuse a tenant's breach.' Examples of such exceptions are: breach of implied warranty of habitability, and breach of covenant of quiet enjoyment." Id. (internal citations omitted). Ms. Smith filed her Payment or Sworn Statement with the trial court on November 18, 2019. In her sworn statement, she attested that the Respondents and their attorneys failed to provide the peaceful enjoyment of her apartment. [CP Volume 1 – Pg 43]

C. The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and this Court, and the Court of Appeals states that no one shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law. The ruling and statements made by the Court of Appeals are in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals, this Court and the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

The Court of Appeals stated, "the trial court found that Smith assaulted another tenant and was arrested and criminally charged with assault. It clearly rejected Smith's testimony that she acted in self-defense." While these statements are totally fabricated, flawed, a true stretch of the

imagination, completely inflammatory and wrong. The trial court granted the eviction only because of an extremely flawed law, RCW 59.18.130(8) The Court of Appeals decision in <u>Wade Webster v. Thomas Litz No.</u> 81547-4-I filed July 6, 2021, wherein it reversed the decision of the trial court. RCW 59.18.380 refers both to "substantial issue[s] of material fact as to whether or not the plaintiff is entitled to other relief" and to "genuine issue[s] of material fact pertaining to a legal or equitable defense or set-off raised in the defendant's answer." Ms. Smith presented the trial court with "genuine issues of material fact pertaining to a legal or equitable defense or set-off raised in her answer.

In Webster v. Litz, because a question of fact existed about the use and presence of methamphetamine on the premises, a trial was required before the court could grant the Websters' request. Id. at 103. 19 RP (May 15, 2020) at 67, 70-71.

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