FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/3/2022 3:08 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100333-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SYHADLEY, LLC

Respondent,

v.

ADDIE SMITH,

Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Drew Mazzeo, WSBA No. 46506 HARBOR APPEALS AND LAW, PLLC 2401 Bristol Court SW, Suite C-102 Olympia, WA 98502 Email: office@harborapeals.com Phone: (360) 539-7156 Fax: (360) 539-7205

Attorney for Respondent

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

3.7. The trial court took testimony regarding the unlawful detainer action. (RP November 19, 2019). A manager for Hadley Apartments testified as to the termination of Ms.

Smith's "at-will" employment with Legacy Partners, her back rent owed due to SyHadley, and the service of the 14 Day Notice to Pay or Vacate on Ms. Smith. (RP November 19, 2019, at 6-13). Ms. Smith testified and argued that her tenancy was conditioned on her employment. (RP November 19, 2019, at 14, 19). She claimed "retaliation, harassment and discrimination based on race and sex... by [her] employer and [her] landlord." (RP November 19, 2019, at 24). She argued federal arbitration law superseded unlawful detainer notices. (RP November 19, 2019, at 27). She claimed that SyHadley's attorney "threaten[ed] her "in the hallway." (RP November 19, 2019, at 28).

3.8. At the conclusion of the show cause hearing, the trial court entered an order for a writ of restitution reasoning that Ms. Smith was "conflating [her] employment action versus the tenancy action" in "an unlawful detainer action." (RP November 19, 2019, at 27).

3.9. In December of 2020, and January of 2021, Ms. Smith obtained a series of stays of the eviction order as the trial

court determined appropriate supersedeas bond. Also, during this time, she had numerous final protection orders issued against her for harassing and threatening and/or assaulting other tenants at the premises.¹ (*e.g.*, RP January 28, 2020, at 36). She was videotaped beating another tenant on the premises and was arrested. (CP at 562; Ex "D", USB Thumb Drive, filed 01/28/20; RP January 28, 2020, at 60-68). The trial court in the criminal action doubled her bond because of the extent of the victim's injuries.

3.10. On January 16, 2020, SyHadley filed another

¹ Ms. Smith also filed bar complaints (now dismissed with prejudice) against SyHadley's attorneys. She posted on social media that the trial court judge and SyHadley's attorneys were "racist." Facebook marked her account as "spam." She maintained that Seattle Housing Justice attorneys were unethically collaborating against her with SyHadley's counsel. Protection orders against Ms. Smith were also issued by the district court regarding her harassing former employees and colleagues such as Christina Jones. The superior court later reversed those particular protection orders, reasoning there was not enough connection between the beating of the other tenant and fear of harm or harassment to employees for Hadley Apartments.

unlawful detainer, under King County cause number 20-2-01335-8, based on Petitioner's assault on another tenant and subsequent arrest on the premises. (CP at 465-85; RP January 28, 2020, at 34, 47). This action named SyHadley as plaintiff. (*e.g*, CP at 465-85)

3.11. On January 28, 2020, at the show cause hearing, the trial court admitted evidence and took testimony from the parties and witnesses. (*e.g.*, RP January 28, 2020). Video evidence of Ms. Smith attacking and assaulting another tenant was admitted as evidence with the trial court. (CP at 562; Ex "D", USB Thumb Drive, filed 01/28/20; RP January 28, 2020, at 60-68). Evidence showing Ms. Smith was arrested was placed into evidence. (CP 591; 593-95; RP January 28, 2020, at 55-57 ("Booking number is 19-22481" and "assault in the fourth degree and provoking assault" and "cause number . . . 9Z0930066"))

3.12. At the show cause hearing, Ms. Smith pled "the Fifth Amendment" when asked if she was arrested", but admitted she was a part of the "Criminal matter" with "video. . . .

involve[ing]" her assaulting another. (RP January 28, 2020, at 46, 51-53).

3.13. Under this second unlawful detainer cause number (*i.e.*, 20-2-01335-8), Ms. Smith did not make any arguments regarding the employment agreement, rental agreement, or that her tenancy was allegedly conditioned on her employment. She did not argue that the employment agreement should be subject to arbitration. The employment agreement was not filed with the trial court in this suit and cause number.

3.14. At the conclusion of the show cause (evidentiary) hearing, the trial court entered an order terminating Petitioner's residential tenancy (again) and ordered that another writ of restitution be (again) issued. (CP at 596-99).

3.15. The trial court reasoned that under RCW 59.18.130(8) a tenant may be evicted for being arrested for assaulting another tenant on the premises, that in this matter Petitioner was arrested for assault of another tenant on the premises, and that the evidence admitted was sufficient to issue

an eviction order and writ of restitution:

RCW 59.18.130(8) provides that the tenant not engage in activity that is, and under (b)(1) entails assaults upon another person which results in an arrest. Ms. Smith has admitted that she was arrested for assault. . . . The record from the -- is it from the court which was admitted here confirms that Ms. Smith was arrested for assault. I viewed the video. I will tell you that my ruling would be the same with or without the video, because I think the proof here is sufficient to meet the burden under RCW 59.18.130(8)(b)(1). . . . it is my finding that the tenant did violate (8) of RCW 59.18.130, and in that case the writ will issue.

(RP January 28, 2020, at 36, 76-78). In its written findings, the

trial court found:

On November 26, 2019, Defendant assaulted another person on the premises and was arrested for assault in the 4th Degree under Mercer Island Cause Number 9Z09330066 and booking number 19-22481. Defendant[']s actions are in violation of RCW 59.18.130(8). Pursuant to RCW 59.18.180(4), Plaintiff may proceed directly to an unlawful detainer without serving a prelitigation notice.

(CP at 596-99).

3.16. Ms. Smith appealed this ruling as well.

3.17. On February 5, 2020, a commissioner for the Court

of Appeals consolidated both appeals for the first and second unlawful detainer actions to "simplify the appeals moving forward." (Appendix 1, Letter Order, dated February 5, 2020).

3.18. On Appeal, Ms. Smith argued that the summons was defective, the trial court erred in allowing the amendment to the plaintiff's name, the trial court erred in not ordering a trial on her claims of discrimination, and that the trial court erred in not dismissing the action because she believed that her occupancy was conditioned on her employment and subject to arbitration.

3.19. On September 27, 2021, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court in both actions. (Unpublished Decision). In pertinent part, it reasoned that Ms. Smith did not raise the arbitration argument in the second unlawful detainer action and waived it. (Unpublished Decision at 4). It ruled also she "failed to prove that her tenancy with SyHadley was a condition of her employment with Legacy Partners." (Unpublished Decision at 4). "[T]he lease agreement gave SyHadley the right to terminate the tenancy for any reason on 20 days' notice" and "RCW 59.18.040(8) d[id] not apply." (Unpublished Decision at 4).

As to Ms. Smith's claim of racism and discrimination and the like, it ruled that "[e]ven if the landlord breached the covenant of quiet enjoyment by not evicting residents whom Smith claimed were harassing her, it could not excuse her assaulting one of those residents" and that "Had Smith raised this issue in the second unlawful detainer proceeding, the trial court could not have considered it." (Unpublished Decision at 5).

Finally, as to the amendment of the caption in the first unlawful detainer, the Court of Appeals ruled that the "summons substantially complied with the [law]", Ms. "Smith fail[ed] to demonstrate any prejudice from the court's decision to permit the name change in the caption", and "any defect in the pleadings affected only the first unlawful detainer proceeding." (Unpublished Decision at 6).

3.20. Ms. Smith argues review should accepted for the following reasons:

• "E2SSB 5160 applies to Ms. Smith" and "this petition involves issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." (Petition at 7, 18).

• "Respondents breached the covenant of quiet enjoyment." (Petition at 7, 13-15).

• "[T]he actions of the Court of Appeals show[ed] clear bias . . . and the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the supreme court. . . . [by failing to resolve this appeal in her favor and not applying the doctrine of] judicial estoppel. . . ." (Petition at 8-10).

• "The United States Constitution's Supremacy Clause requires that the arbitration clause [within Ms. Smith's at-will employment agreement] . . . appl[ies] to [Ms. Smith's tenancy] relationship with her landlord" and the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with precedent. (Petition at 11-13).

• "The ruling and statements made by the Court of Appeals are in conflict with published decision of the Court of

Appeals, this Court and the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution." (Petition at 15).

4. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

4.1. <u>E2SSB 5160 was Irrelevant to this Appeal and No</u> Substantial Issue of Public Importance Exists.

E2SSB 5160 was codified into law in the spring of 2021. Section 3 imposed restrictions on evictions based on a failure to pay rent when "An unlawful detain action . . . resulted from a tenant's nonpayment of rent between March 1, 2020, and six months following expiration of the eviction moratorium."

Here, all final orders for eviction were entered by the trial court in 2019 and January of 2020, over a year before E2SSB 5160 became law. This was also months before the law had any stated effect. The law had nothing to do with evictions based on beating another tenant and being arrested for that assault. Contrary to Ms. Smith's claim that she has "suffered tremendous financial hardship due to Respondents, and the Covid 19 Pandemic"—she has never vacated the luxury apartment at issue. Instead, she has lived in a luxury apartment with luxury amenities since the summer of 2019 without paying a dime in rent. Ms. Smith's argument that E2SSB 5160 "applies" or that this "petition involves issues of substantial public interest" is meritless. This Court should deny review.

4.2. <u>Judicial Estoppel has Nothing to do with this</u> <u>Appeal.</u>

"Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13, 15 (2007)

Here, judicial estoppel was not an issue at the trial court or on appeal. Ms. Smith, unartfully, argues in her Petition that the doctrine of judicial estoppel applies for the first time. So far as undersigned can interpret her Petition, the gravamen of her argument is that SyHadley allegedly made an inconsistent argument on appeal that "Rent was due/comped as a benefit while she was employed. . . ." (Petition at 9). She desires this Court to prevent SyHadley from taking advantage of the alleged "inconsistent" argument by taking review of the Court of Appeals decision. (*See* Petition at 9). Notably, the unpublished decision did not mention the doctrine, as none of the parties ever did either.

While Ms. Smith's judicial estoppel argument is unclear, it is clear that SyHadley made no inconsistent arguments, and that this Court has no reason to take review of the Court of Appeals decision. As the trial court succinctly ruled, Ms. Smith has "conflat[ed her] employment action versus the tenancy action." (RP November 19, 2019, at 27). Her tenancy was governed by a rental agreement. Her management position was governed by an employment agreement. An addendum to the rental agreement provided a term that granted her a credit towards rent due each month while she was employed, but in no way was her tenancy contingent on employment. Her landlord could terminate the tenancy with 20 days of notice, which was lawful at the time.

In sum, the Court of Appeals committed no error, there is conflict with prior precedent regarding judicial estoppel or any other doctrine of the law. No substantial issue of public importance exists. This Court should deny review.

4.3. <u>The Supremacy Clause has No Application to this</u> <u>Case</u>.

Federal law in some circumstances may preempt state law. *Stevedoring Servs. of Am., Inc. v. Eggert*, 129 Wn.2d 17, 23, 914 P.2d 737, 741 (1996).

Here, Ms. Smith maintains there are federal law and constitutional violations perpetrated by the Court of Appeals because it did not agree that her employment agreement's arbitration clause governed this unlawful detainer action. (Petition at 11-13). Again, her tenancy was governed by a rental agreement. While her management position was governed by an employment agreement that had an inapplicable (to this unlawful detainer action) arbitration clause, her rental agreement was governed by contract and state law. Thus, her arguments regarding federal law have no merit. There is no reason for this Court to grant review.

4.4. <u>The Fifth Amendment has no Pertinent Relevance</u> to this Case.

"The Fifth Amendment declares that no person "shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself." *Eastham v. Arndt*, 28 Wn. App. 524, 527, 624 P.2d 1159, 1162 (1981). "RCW 59.18.130(8)(b)(i) provides that a tenant shall not engage in any activity at the rental premises that . . . entails physical assaults upon another person which result in an arrest" (Unpublished Decision at 3) (some internal punctuation omitted). Under RCW 59.18.380, "it is undisputed that a defendant at such a [show cause] hearing is not entitled to a full trial." *Tedford v. Guy*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 1, 11, 462 P.3d 869, 875 (2020). Here, Ms. Smith was caught on video camera beating another tenant and she was subsequently arrested. In the second unlawful detainer action, she both testified regarding the assault and raised the Fifth Amendment. The maintenance man recording the video testified as did other witnesses for the SyHadley. Regardless of her waiver of the privilege, the trial court weighed the evidence and credibility of the witnesses. Notably, Ms. Smith did not request a jury trial in the second unlawful detainer action.

In sum, there was no genuine issue of fact that she was indeed arrested for assaulting another tenant. Substantial evidence supported the trial courts factual findings and legal conclusions. The Court of Appeals, citing existing case law, properly affirmed. Thus, this Court should deny review.

> 4.5. <u>The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial</u> <u>Court's Decision Not to Adjudicate Unrelated</u> <u>Claims of Discrimination</u>.

Unlawful detainer actions are narrow and "limited to the question of possession and related issues such as restitution of the

premises and rent." Angelo Prop. Co., LP v. Hafiz, 167 Wn. App. 789, 809, 274 P.3d 1075 (2012). Generally, counterclaims are not allowed during unlawful detainer proceedings. *Munden v. Hazelrigg*, 105 Wn.2d 39, 45, 711 P.2d 295 (1985). An exception to the general rule is made when the counterclaim, affirmative equitable defense, or setoff is based on facts which excuse a tenant's breach. *Id.* Examples of such exceptions include breach of implied warranty of habitability, and breach of covenant of quiet enjoyment. *Id.*

Here, the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's ruling to not proceed to trial regarding Ms. Smith's discrimination counterclaims because "Even if the landlord breached the covenant of quiet enjoyment by not evicting residents whom [Ms.] Smith claimed were harassing her, it could not excuse her assaulting one of those residents." (Unpublished Decision at 5). Nothing is out of the ordinary regarding the trial court's ruling or the Court of Appeals decision to affirm. The law was followed evicting Ms. Smith, and she is free to pursue discrimination claims in an ancillary action. This Court should deny review.

5. ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(j), this Court may award costs and attorney fees if applicable law grants a party the right to recover fees and cost on appeal and such party was awarded such fees by the Court of Appeals.

Here, SyHadley was awarded fees and costs on appeal because Chapter 59.18, RCW, and the parties' rental agreement provide for attorney fees to the prevailing party. Ms. Smith's Petition is without merit. SyHadley respectfully requests reasonable attorney fees and costs for having to respond to this Petition.

6. CONCLUSION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, SyHadley respectfully requests this Court deny review, for the reasons stated herein